UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

INDICTMENT FOR CONSPIRACY AND BANK FRAUD

"'UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ok

V. - : . . . *
- MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN o
a/k/a MEGEAN LERRIMAN | *

a’k/a MEGAN M. LERRIMAN =

- a/k/aMEAGEN M. LERRIMAN ~  *

- a/ka MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN -
. SARAH M. SMITH - *
 a/k/aMICHELLE S. SMITH

CRIMINAL DQCK.ET NO. -

SECTION:

" VIOLATIONS: 18 U.S.C. § 371

18US.C.§1344
18USC.§2°

ALVINL.WELCH -~~~ .
| .'.The Grand Jury char.g.es tl.lat':'..'
| COUNT 1
B CONSPIRACY

A. AT ALL TIMES MATERIAL HEREIN

" 1. Iberia Bank located in Marrero Lou1S1ana in the Eastem Dlstnct of Loulslana was a

_ barik Whose deposﬂs were 1nsured by the Federal Dep031t In_'surance COI’pOIﬁthn,_ as p_rov1d_ed_by-

 Title 18, United States Code, Section 20.




2. 'Ai‘nSouth Bank (n'ow known as Regions Bank) located in Marre'ro "Lotiisiana,' 1n 't.he .

| 'Eastern D1stnct of L0u131ana was a bank whose dep031ts were 1nsured by the F ederal Depos1t -

. Insurance Corporanon as provided by Title 18 Umted States Code Secnon 20

_'3_._ 'Capltal One Bank, located in New Orleans Lou151ana in the -Eastern. Dlstrlbt of |

'_ : Loulslana was a bank whose dep051ts were msured by the Federal Dep051t Insurance Corporatlon '

: 'as prowded by Title 18, Umted States Code Secnon 20

4. Caplt_al One‘ Bank, 'lo‘cated in Harvey, Lou1s1an_'a, in the Eastern District of LOulslana,

N was a bank whose depoSits were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporatio_n, as p_fovide'd _

_ _by Tltle 18, Un1ted States Code Sect1on 20.

) 5’.. ASI Federal Cred1t Unlon Iocated in Westwego Louisiana, in the Eastem sttnct of

- Loulslana was a bank whose depos1ts were 1nsured by the Natlonal Credit Un1on Share Insurance .

| . Fund (NCUSIF) as prowded by T1t1e 18, Umted States Code, Secnon 20

6. Whltney Natlonal Bank located. in Gretna Louls1ana in the Eastern D1strlct of_ '

.LoniSiana, was a_bank whose_depOSIts were 1ns_ur_ed by.the Fedet'al Deposxt Insur_a_nce Cotporatlon,
o _as.lprovi..ded by Title 18 Uni'tediStates- COde .Sectio.n 20. o o
7. AmSouth Bank (now known as Reglons Bank) located in Gretna Lou151ana in the _. _ |
'.Eas.tern D1str1ct of Loms1ana, was a bank whose deposns were 1nsured by the Federal Deposrc : _. '

Insuranee Corporatlon as prov1ded by Tltle 18 Un1ted States Code Sect10n 20

8 lbena Bank in Terrytown Lou1s1ana in the Eastern DlStI'lCt of Lou1sxana was a bank-' i

' whose deposns were insured by the Federal Deposn InsuranceCorporatlon,_ as pr_ov__ld_ed by Title 1 8,
' Umted States Code SCCthI’l 20.
9 .T efferson Pansh School Board Employees Credlt Union, located in Harvey, Lou151ana St

‘in'the Eastem D_lstrlct of Louls1ana,' was a bank whose dep031ts were insured by_ the Nat10na1 Cre_c_ht_' o



_Umon Share Insurance Fund (N CUSIF) as prov1ded by Trtle 18 Umted States Code Secuon 20

10 ASI Federal Credit Unron Iocated in New Orleans Lou1srana 1n the Eastern Drstnct

“of Lou131ana Was a bank whose deposrts were 1nsured by the National Credlt Urnon Share Insurance

: Fund (N CUSIF) as prov1ded by Trtle 18 United States Code Sect1on 20

o I_l. Caprtol One Bank, located in Gretna Loulslana in the Eastern Dlstr1ct of Lou1s1ana :

o was a bank whose dep051ts were 1nsured by the Federal Dep051t Insurance Corporatlon as provrded

-'by Trtle 18 Unlted States Code Seetlon 20. -

B THE CONSPIRACY' '

From a trme unknown but prlor to August 30 2007 and contrnumg untll or about October L W
7' S, 2007 in the Eastern D1str1ct of Lours1ana and elsewhere the defendants MEGAN M _
' MERRIMAN a/k/a MEGEAN LERRIMAN; a/k/aMEGANM LERRIMAN a/k/aMEAGENM . |
N -'LERRIMAN a/k/a MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN SARAH M. SMITH a/k/a MICHELLE SR :
B 7 S SMITI—I and ALVIN L WELCH along with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, d1d_ |
| ' knomngly and wrllfully cornbme consptre confederate and agree to devrse a scheme to defraud |
~various federally msured financial 1nst1tutrons as 1dentrﬁed in Counts 2-15 and .to obtarn money'
' owned by and under the custody and control .of these rnst1tutrons by means of false and fraudulent 5 : -
o pretenses representatrons and promrses in that the defendants fraudulently uresentedj and cashed
B | altered checks knowmg said checks to have been fraudulently and falsely aItered in vrolatlon of Trtle S I

) 18 United States Code, Sectlon 1344

C. OVERT ACTS

Dunng the course of the consprracy, in the Eastern Drstrlct of Loursrana and elsewhere the

- - followmg overt acts arnong others ‘were committed in furtherance of the above descrlbed: -_‘

_ consplracy

7' 1 In or around September 2007 MEGAN M MERRIMAN and SARAH M SMITH o
3. : ,




L TR

: 'Were a"p.proached by an indiyidual- EMtn New (:)rlean_s, Louis'iana. and were askedwhetherthey 7_ .. K SR
.were 1nterested in makmg money | | | _ | | S
2 Inor r around September 2007 E.M. drove MERRIMAN and SMITH to a Walmart_'l .

- : : _retarl outlet located on Manhattan Boulevard in Harvey, Loursrana and provrded both defendants o .
' -wrth $100 to purchase medtcal scrubs wh1te t-shirts a.nd socks. | | | .
3. E. M told MERRIMAN and SMITH that they could keep the change and to remam m: )

K _.Walmart unt11 he called themon a cellular telephone approx1mately two (2) hours later =

4, In or around September 2007 after prov1d1ng E M with their 1dent1ﬁcat1on cards E M.

| 'drove MERRIMAN and SMITH in a rental car to various banks to cash checks E M had altered L

' by makmg the checks payable to MERRIMAN and SMITH.

5. These checks, st_olen frorn res1dent1al mail boxes, were also altered so as to increas_e the -

- ._arnount. of the check and the _account holder’s signature wa.s'”forged__. "

6. In themc_mo. section of the altered checks E.M. wrote “care staff” or “mother’s care

| staff”or _"‘Il_iome h_ealth care”,_
.‘- 7. : In or' around September 2607 .the defelndants.\:yore the clothiné purChaSed atWalmart o8
'_ _so as to appear they were employed as home health care workers ) B |
: 8 After cashmg the checks MERRIMAN and SMITH prowded E. M w1th the mol’ley : o

| 1llegally recelved from the banks and in turn E M prov1ded the defendants w1th money and/or druﬂs g

9 On or about September 25 2007 ALVIN L. WELCH was. approached by E M in New _

o Orleans, Louxs1ana and was asked whether he had any 1dent1ﬁcat1or1 and if he was 1nterested 1n'
5 _makmg rnoney;' i

o - 10. Onor about.September25,2007, E.M. drove WELCH inarental car to yariousmbanks_ S s

4




and waxted in the car whlle WELCH attempted to cash checks E.M. had altered by maklng the S

B checks payable to WELCH

11: These checks stolen from res1dentxal maﬂ boxes were also altered so as to mcrease the e S

" amount qf the Check_and_ the account holder s sxgnature was forged. )
| ) 12 In t.he r_nento section of the '.a.lte.re.d checks E. M wrote “horne repairS”,':"‘.‘I;aid__'in full.” 'or o
“re'noxlrations completed” | e _
13, After WELCH successfully cashed the ﬁctltlous checks E.M. prov1ded a pornon of the |
| - illegal proceeds to WELCH . | .
| All in vrolatlon of T1tle 18 United States Code Sectlon 371

'.COUNTz |

On OF about September 4, 2007 defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN afk/a' B

o -' MEGEAN LERRJMAN a/k/a MEGAN M LERRIMAN a/k/a MEAGENM LERRIMAN a/k/a '_

MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN deviseda scheme and amﬁce to defraud Iberra Bank located AR

- in Marrero Loulsrana ‘inthe Eastern D1stnct of Lours1ana and to obtarn money owned by and under o

the custody of Iberia Bank by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatlons and promlses: SRR

and in executron of the scheme and art1ﬁce as set forth above she fraudulently presented and cashed'f

an altered check in the a.mount of $966.81; knowmg sard check tohave been fraudul entIy and fal sely o "

| altered all in v1olat10n of Tltle 18 Umted States Code Sectrons 1344 and 2.
COUNT 3

. On or about Septernber 4, 2007 defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN a/k/a :

) -MEGEAN LERRIMAN a/k/a MEGANM LERRIMAN a/k/a MEAGENM LERRIMAN alfa

a MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN dev1sed a scheme and artlﬁce to defraud AmSouth Bank (now' - _. - .._‘ : -

-5




known as Regrons Bank) 1ocated in Marrero Lou131ana in the Eastern D1stnct of Loutstana and: IR

“to obtam money owned by or under the CUStOdY of AmSouth Bank by means of false or fraudulent e

_ pretenses representatlons or pron‘nses and in execution of the scheme- 'and artlﬁce as 'set forth _'

- above she fraudulently presented and cashed an altered checkin the amount of $ 1, l 70 89 knowmg N

_ sald check to have been fraudulently and falsely altered all in v1olat10n of T1tle 18 Umted States i

-Code Sectrons 1344 and 2
| _cnum

| On or about September4 2007 defendant SARAHM SMITH a/k/a MICHELLE S =

_ SMITH devlsed a scheme and art1f1ce to defraud Cap1ta1 One Bank, in New Orleans Loulslana in )

the Eastern Drstrlct of Lomsrana and to obtaln money owned by and under the custody of Capltoll B

o '_ One Bank by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representanons and promlses and in executlon , T

of the scheme and artrﬁce as set forth above she fraudulently presented and cashed an altered check ) -

in the amount of $965 00 knowmg sa1d check to have been fraudulently and falsely altered all 1n' S

B vrolanon of T1tle 18 Un1ted States Code Sectlons 1344 and 2.

' COUNTS

On or about Septernber 5, 2007 defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN a/lda i

”MEGEAN LERRIMAN; a/k/a MEGANM 'LERRIMAN; a/lda MEAGENM LERRIMAN a/k/a

| MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN -dev1sed a scheme and art1ﬁce to defraud .Cap1tal One Bank

“in Harvey, Loulstana in the Eastern Dtstnct of Loulslana and to obtasn rnoney owned by and under .

| the custody of Capltol One Bank by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatrons and L

' prom.tses and i 1n executron of the scherne and artifice as set forth above she fraudulently presented :

©and cashed an altered check in the amount of $975. 63, knowmg sald check to have been fraudulently" L o

b




~ and falsely altered; all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344 and 2, .

COUNT 6

On or about September 5 2007 defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN a/k/a;- o

MEGEAN LERRIMAN MEGAN M LERRIMAN a/k/a MEAGEN M LERRIMAN afk/a:

' MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN devxsed a scheme and artifice to defraud ASI Federal Credlt o |
' Umon located 1n Westwego Loursxana in the Eastern D1stnct of Lourslana and to obtam money'

R owned by and under the custody of ASI Federal Credit Unton by means of false and fraudulent - o

pretenses representatlons and promises and in executlon of the scherne and amfice as set forth_-'

- .above she fraudulently presented and cashed an altered check in the amount of $91 6. 52 lmowmg _ _

said check to have been fraudulently and falsely altered all in vrolanon of Trtle 18 Unlted States -

Code, Sectrons 1344 and 2.

COUNT 7

~On or about September s, 2007 defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN a/k/a |

MEGEAN LERRIMAN a/k/a MEGAN M LERRIMAN a/k/a MEAGEN M LERRIMAN a/k/a':. : e

| “ _MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN dev1sed a scheme and artlﬁce to defraud Wh1tney Nauonal | _;

: Bank located in Gretna Lourslana in the Bastem DlStI‘lCt of Louts1ana and to obtam money owned o

| 'by and under the custody of Whrtney Natlonal Bank by means of false and fraudulent pretenses ..
. representatlons and promises and in executlon of the scheme and artlﬁce as set forth above she o

- fraudulently presented and cashed an altered check in the amount of $988 00 knowmg sard check L N

% have been fraudulently and falsely altered all in violation of Title 18, Umted States Code SRR

- Sectlons 1344 and 2




COUNTS”'

On or about September 5 2007 defendant SARAH M. SMITH afk/a MICHELLE S

o _SMITH dev1sed a scheme and arnﬁce to defraud AmSouth Bank (now known as Reglons Bank) : '-:

: located in Gretna Louxsmna in the Eastem DlSl’IlCt of Louls1ana, and to obtam money owned by' S

and under the custody of-AmSouth Bank by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatlons .

. and promlses and in: executlon of the scheme and. art1ﬁce as set. forth above she fraudulently N
presented and cashed an altered check in the amount of $988 94, knowmg sa1d check to have been I B
_fraudulently and_falsely altered;'all in violation of Tttle 18, Umted States Code, Sec_txons 1_734_4 and 7

B -COUNT9

Onor about September s, 2007, defendant SARAH M. SMITH afk/a MICHELLE .

: SMITH dev1sed a scheme and a.rtlﬁce to defraud ASI Federal Credit Umon located in Westwego o

Loutsxana in the Eastern Dtstnct of Lou1s1ana and to obtaln money owned by and under the custody' o

of ASI Federal Credn Umon by means of false and fraudulent pretenses representatlons or promlses_-= L .

R . and in executlon of the scheme and art1ﬁce as set forth above she fraudu]ently presented and cashed SR

~ an altered check in the amount of $984 46 knowmg said check to have been fraudulently

T _ and falsely altered all m v1olat1on of Tltle 18 Umted States Code, Sectlons 1344 and 2

COUNT 10

On or about September 7, 2007 defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN a/k/a . T
) MEGEAN LER.RIMAN a/k/a MEGAN M LERRIMAN a/k/a MEAGEN M LERRIMAN a/k/a::--- '
| 'MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN dev1sed a scheme and artxﬁce to defraud Iber1a Bank in

L Terrytown Loulslana in the Eastern Dlstrlct of Loulslana andto obtam money owned by and under- L



the custody'of Iberia Bank by rnean's of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations an'd promfses' St

. and in executron of the scheme and arnﬁce as set forth above, she fraudulently presented and cashed T .; s

: an altered check in the amount of $971 06 knowmg sard check to have been fraudulently and falsely' N
' 'altered allin v101atron of TrtIe 18, Umted States Code Sectrons 1344 and 2

COUNT 11

Onor about September 7, 2007, defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN afk/a

o :MEGEAN LERRIMAN a/k/a MEGAN M LERRIMAN a'k/a MEAGENM LERR_IMAN afk/a

. MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN devrsed a scheme and artlﬁce to defraud Jefferson Pansh o

School Board Ernployees Credlt Umon located in Harvey, Loursrana in the Eastem Drstrlct of s

| "Loulslana and o obtam money owned by and under the custody of Jefferson Pansh School Board o E

Employees Credrt Umon by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representatrons and promlses | ;-' - 5_ '

_' and in executron of the scheme and ar’trﬁce as set forth above she fraudulently presented and cashed SESAAN

an altered check in the amount of $987 68, knowing said check to have been fraudulently and falsely R
o 'altered alI in vxolatlon of Trtle 18 United States Code Sectrons 1344 and 2
COUNT 12

On or about September 10 2007, defendant MEGAN MICHEL MERRIMAN a/k/a i

B MEGEAN LERRIMAN a/k/a MEGANM LERRIMAN; afk/a MEAGAN M. LERR_IMAN a/k/a =

o a/kja MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN dev1sed a scheme and artlﬁce to defraud AmSouth Bank .

] _ (now known as Reglons Bank) located in Gretna Loul51ana in the Eastern Dlstrlct of Lou151ana -

and to obtarn money owned by and under the custody of ArnSouth Bank, by means of false and . L

e fraudulent pretenses, representatlons or prormses and in executlon of the scheme and artlﬁce as set_

' forth above she fraudulently presented and cashed an altered check in the arnount of $987 00 o

_ knowmg sald check to have been fraudulently and falsely altered; allin vrolatron of Tltle 18 Unrted__-."_ R

._9_-




States Code, Sections 1344 and 2.

COUNT 13

On or about October 4, 2007 defendant ALVIN L. WELCH devrsed a scheme and arttﬁce " _' . =

to defraud ASI Federal Cred1t Umon Iocated in New Orleans Loursrana 1n the Eastern Drstnct of S

) Loursrana and to obtam money owned by and under the custody of ASI Federal Cred1t Urnon by - o

- means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representatrons and promtses and in executlon of the v ”

“" scheme and a.rtlﬁce as set forth above he fraudulently presented and cashed an altered check in the B

.amount of $1 976 00 knowmg sa1d check to have been fraudulently and falsely altered all i

' B vrolatron of Tltle 18 Umted States Code Sectlons 1344 and 2.

COUNT 14

On orabout October9 2007 defendant ALVINL WELCH dev1sedascheme and artlﬁce_m-:

-to defraud Capltol One Bank located in Harvey, Louts:ana in the Eastern Dlstrrct of Loulsxana and

o obtaln money owned by and under the custody of Capltol One Bank by rneans of false and" R

| fraudulent pretenses representattons and promrses and in executlon of the scheme and artrﬁce as

set forth above, he fraudulently presented and cashed an altered check in the amount of Sl 024 77 o '

: knowmg sa1d check to have been fraudulently and falsely altered all in v1oIat10n of Tttle 1 8 Unlted

o : States Code Sectlons 1344 and 2.

COUNT 15

On or about October 11, 2007 defendant ALVIN L. WELCH devrsed a scheme and’ :

o _artrﬁce to defraud Caprtol One Bank located in Gretna, Lou151ana m the Eastem D1str1ct of" : o

- Lou1s1ana and to obtam rnoney owned by and under the custody of Cap1tol One Bank by rneans of R

false: and fraudulent pretenses representatlons and prormses and in execution of the scheme and B

-10- '




| , arttfice as set forth abo"’e he fraudulently Presented and cashed an altered check in the a.mount of A
$2 102 95 knowrng sard check to have been fraudulently and falsely altered all in VlOI&thI’l of Trtle' e

18, Unlted States Code Sectlons 1344 and 2.

NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

: 1 : The allegatrons of Counts 1 through 15 of thrs 1nd1ctment are realleged and", |

1ncorporated by reference as though set forth fully herern for the purpose of allegrng forfe1ture to the :

_ 'Umted States of Amerrca pursuant to the prov1510ns of TltIe 21 United States Code Sectron 853 o e
: '2._ . As a result of the offense alleged in Counts 1 through 15 the defendants MEGAN_ ’

"._MICHEL MERRIMAN a./k/a MEGEAN LERRIMAN a/k/a MEGANM LERRIMAN afk/a o

MEAGEN M. LERRIMAN a/k/a MEAGEN MICHELLE LERRIMAN SARAH M SMITH

- -a/k/a MICHELLE s, SMITH and ALVINL WELCH shall forfeit to the Urnted States pursuant s
to Trtle 21, Umted States Code Sectlon 853 any and all property constltutlng or derlved from any o
.proceeds the defendant obtarned dlrectly or mdrrectly asa result of the sa1d vrolatrons and any and.

' "'all property used or 1ntended to be used in any manner.or part to eornrnrt and to fac1htate the i

cornrmssmn of the vroIatlons aIIeged in Counts 1 through 15 of thlS 1nd1ctrnent

: '. 3. If any of the property subject to forferture pursuant to Paragraph 2 of th1s Notlce of - '

o Forfelture asa result of a.ny act or omission of the defendant

' __a.. '_ -cannot be located upon the exercise of due dtlidence;
: b | has been transferred or sold to, or dep031ted with, a th1rd person.
¢. " has been placed beyond the jurlsdlctlon of the Court .
d .has been substantrally drrnlmshed in value' or |
e. has been commrngled wﬁh other property vyhlch cannot be | subd1v1ded :
- __wrthout drfﬁculty, S : :

-'11-_' '




“itis the 1ntent of the Umted States, pursuant to Tltle 21 United States Code Sectton 853(p) to: L
seek forfelture of any other property of said defendants up to the value of the above forfeltable : o
- property Allin v1olat10n of Tttle 21, Umted States Code Sectton 853

A TRUE BILL '

- FOREPERSON |

La. Bar Rell No 85 1 7

MASELLI MANN
~\First Assistant United States Attorney
- La. Bar Roll No. 9020

O K. E\)m«
. JULIAK.EVANS
TR As31stant Umted States Attorney

: New Orieans, L-o_u1s1ana -
~July 25,2008 RN '




